



Open Research Online

The Open University's repository of research publications and other research outputs

Nurse Education: time to get it right

Journal Item

How to cite:

Draper, Janet (2006). Nurse Education: time to get it right. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 15(9) pp. 1069–1070.

For guidance on citations see [FAQs](#).

© [not recorded]

Version: [not recorded]

Link(s) to article on publisher's website:

<http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.1111/j.1365-2702.2006.01485.x>

<http://www.blackwell-synergy.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1365-2702.2006.01485.x>

Copyright and Moral Rights for the articles on this site are retained by the individual authors and/or other copyright owners. For more information on Open Research Online's data [policy](#) on reuse of materials please consult the policies page.

oro.open.ac.uk

Editorial

Nurse education: time to get it right

Introduction

The support of pre-registration students in the practice setting and the facilitation of their learning has been a topical issue for at least the last two decades, both nationally and internationally. The ways in which theoretical and practical components are combined, the most effective method of teaching and assessing practical skills, who is best placed to undertake this and what characterises a positive and supportive learning environment are just some of the issues. There is a developing literature on these diverse aspects of nurse education and its impact on clinical nursing. However, inherent in this literature are a number of fundamental assumptions that a). we know what constitutes a good practice learning environment and b). the current theory/practice split-model of education is effective.

I aim in this Editorial to challenge these assumptions by, firstly, mapping out the factors contributing to why the practice learning environment has become such a political arena and, secondly, asking what it is that students say is important for the facilitation of their learning. Finally, I make some suggestions for a strategic approach to the commissioning and conduct of healthcare education research.

The practice environment – the political issues

Lambert and Glacken (2005), in a review of the literature related to practice placement support roles, indicate that providing a supportive environment for students is important. But what do we mean by a supportive environment? Issues such as a dedicated and appropriately trained mentor, staff who understand the curriculum, a welcome 'ambience', good role models, staff interested in teaching, and the integration of theory and practice all seem important. Lambert and Glacken state that 'learning through placement experience is often deemed more meaningful than that received in the classroom' (p.2).

Comment [AU1]: This page number will have to be checked with original by you at proof stage

Furthermore, Napthine (1996, cited in Nolan 1998: 623) argues that 'the quality of nursing education is dependent upon the quality of a student's clinical experience. Clinical experience is central to the development of nursing practice skills'. But how do we know all these things? And perhaps more importantly, what is the strength of this evidence? We will return to this issue later.

A theory/practice model has been the primary pattern for nurse education nationally and internationally. In England, all curricula are based on a 50% theory/practice split. Changes in the curricula over the last two decades have further emphasised the perceived importance of the practice environment for learning. But we know from Melia's early work in this area (1987) that students can sometimes struggle to negotiate the different worlds of service (practice) and education (theory). So is it time to start thinking 'out of the box' with respect to the way in which nurse education is organised? I would suggest that what we have at the moment is an inherited legacy. In contrast, what is needed is robust evidence to

underpin the decisions nurse educationalists make for organising curricula.

In addition to the principle of educational reform, the goal to recruit and retain more nurses (DH, 1998; 1999; 2000a, b, c) has been a further significant driver for the investment in the development of pre-registration curricula. These reforms of nurse education have resulted in greater emphasis being placed on the amount and quality of clinical experience. It would seem that a good practice learning environment has become the panacea for recruitment and retention problems, the promotion of life-long learning and the integration of theory and practice.

However, the promotion of a good practice learning environment is dependent upon the availability and commitment of suitably qualified staff. Paradoxically, some of the policy initiatives driving the practice learning environment into the spotlight have served also to adversely impact on the support students have received. For example, there is significant ambiguity in the current climate over who is ultimately responsible for the facilitation of learning in the practice setting.

In this regard, Lambert and Glacken (2005) identify what I consider to be *the* crucial issue – who is responsible for this facilitation of learning in the practice setting? Prior to the restructuring of nurse education, this facilitation of practice learning was undertaken by staff nurses, charge nurses and clinical tutors. However, the transfer of all pre-registration education in England to the Higher Education (HE) sector in the mid 1990s

heralded a change in the perceived responsibility for teaching and learning in the practice setting. Responsibility shifted from 'service' (the NHS) to 'education' (HE Institutions). But HE did not receive any additional funding and I suggest, as a result, support of students in practice became a neglected area.

The practice environment – what is important for students?

So, we now appear to be in an era that recognises the value of high quality facilitated learning in the practice setting. But what exactly are the dimensions of this quality learning experience? May and Veitch (1998) suggest six factors which affect students' learning in the practice setting:

- Students' preparation for the practice placement
- Mentors' preparation for their role
- Clear understandings of the tutor/lecturer role
- Formal opportunities for reflection
- Well established assessment processes
- Student strategies for maximising their practice learning.

From an educationalist's perspective, these factors appear to make sense. However, how do we know for sure that these are the relevant issues and if not, how do we find out? This leads us on to consider the third and final dimension to this commentary – the need for a coherent strategy for education research in nursing and healthcare.

The practice environment – a strategy for research

Clark (2005, forthcoming) calls for a more robust evidence base for

Comment [AU2]: You will have to provide full details at proof or refer to this as unpublished

education practice. She argues that:

whilst most of us will teach evidence-based practice because clinicians are increasingly expected to defend their clinical decisions and actions, the same does not appear to be true for education practice. When was the last time you heard a lecturer referring to the evidence base of their approach to teaching and learning? How can research studies that tend to be small-scale, short-term and undertaken on a single site provide the evidence base required for an evidence-informed culture?

Drawing on the work of Rafferty and Traynor (1997), she goes on to suggest that nurse educators consequently have to rely on this small-scale work until more systematic evidence emerges. However, how do we arrive at a place that can generate this systematic evidence? I would suggest that, as with nursing research in general, there is no strategy giving direction to the nurse education research agenda. So how can we develop such an agenda?

Clark (2005 forthcoming) argues that in order to 'provide education that is both effective and sensitive to the needs of students and other stakeholders, healthcare educators must continue to contribute actively to the education research agenda'. With reference to the work of Long and Johnson (2002), she makes some suggestions for the shape of such a research agenda, which could include more large-scale research studies, multi-site/multi-institutional research, longitudinal research and more collaborative research. Such collaboration could be across disciplines and international boundaries.

Comment [AU3]: Ditto

As a body, nurse educationalists must shape this into a coherent agenda which drives education research and identifies robust evidence to underpin education practice. On my list of research priorities would be a raft of work exploring the factors that most effectively promote learning in the practice setting. This work would involve many of the issues already identified here such as:

- Identifying the characteristics of a supportive learning environment
- Evaluating different models of theory/practice combinations
- How can we enable students to negotiate the different worlds of service and education?
- Evaluating the effectiveness of practice support roles
- What is the best way to prepare students for practice placement?
- What is the most effective way to educate and support mentors?
- What is the role of the lecturer?
- Do the current pre-registration education models prepare students for the role of the contemporary registered nurse.

Conclusion

Despite its 'long and noble tradition' (Thompson & Watson, 2005) nursing is in danger of losing its way. Escalating financial pressures currently being exerted on health services will continue to emphasise and exacerbate the recruitment and retention problems in nursing, both nationally and internationally (Wickett & McCutcheon, 2002). Nurses are a precious and finite resource. If ever there was a time to get the training of nurses right, then the time is now. The profession and the patients for whom we care urgently deserve it. I would like to urge dialogue between

governments, nursing bodies and higher education establishments to devise a strategic approach to the generation of a strong evidence base which would form the foundation for future educational reform.

Jan Draper, PhD, BSc (Hons), RGN

Programme Director

Distance Learning

RCN Institute

20 Cavendish Square

London

W1G 0RN

Email: jan.draper@rcn.org.uk

Tel: 01430 425458

References

Clark, E. (2005, forthcoming)

Department of Health (1998) *Working Together: securing a quality workforce for the NHS*, Department of Health: London.

Department of Health (1999) *Making a Difference: Strengthening the nursing, midwifery and health visiting contribution to health and health care*, Department of Health: London.

Department of Health (2000a) *The NHS Plan*, Department of Health: London.

Department of Health (2000b) *Meeting the Challenge: A Strategy for the Allied Health Professions*, Department of Health: London.

Department of Health (2000c) *Recruiting and Retaining Nurses, Midwives and Health Visitors in the NHS: A progress report*, Department of Health: London.

Lambert, V. and Glacken, M. (2005) Clinical education facilitators: a literature review, *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 14, pp. 1-10.

May, N. and Veitch, L. (1998) Working to learn and learning to work: placement experience of Project 2000 nursing students in Scotland, *Nurse Education Today*, 18 (8), pp. 630-636.

Melia, K. (1987) *Learning and working. The occupational socialisation of nurses*, Tavistock: London.

Nolan, C. A. (1998) Learning on clinical placement: the experience of six Australian student nurses, *Nurse Education Today*, 18 (8), pp. 622-629.

Thompson, D. R. and Watson, R. (2005) The state of nursing in the United Kingdom (editorial), *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 14, (9), pp.1039-1040.

Wickett, D. and McCutcheon, H. (2002) Issues of qualification assessment for nurses in a global market, *Nurse Education Today*, 22, pp. 44-52.